National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

Service des thèses canadiennes

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, véuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous à faitparvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, tests publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'aineur, SRC 1970, c. C-30.

NL-339 (r. 88/04)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

ſ

9

AN ECONOMIC FORECASTING MODEL

by

MCINTYRE B. E.

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

(ENGINEERING MANAGEMENT)

DEPARTMENT OF MECHANICAL ENGINEERING

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL 1988

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permission.

1

•

L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

1

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN 0-315-45705-8

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA.

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR :

MCINTYRE B. E.

TITLE OF THESIS:

t

AN ECONOMIC FORECASTING MODEL

DEGREE MASTER OF SCIENCE

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: FALL 4988

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or research purposes only.

The author reserves the other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED)

PERMANENT ADDRESS : 8107 79 AVENUE

EDMONTON, ALBERTA CANADA.

DATE : CL + 13, 1988.

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled AN ECONOMIC FORECASTING, MODEL submitted by MCINTYRE B. E. in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE in MECHANICAL ENGINEERING (ENGINEERING MANAGEMENT).

Supervisors

noque

Date

ABSTRACT

Suitable models have not been developed to enable the non-specialist to forecast future economic events. The business person needs to know when to expect changes of trend in the economy to be effective in planning and operating a business firm.

Modelling the economy in the same terms as those used by business firms shows the economy from the producer's view. The forecasts generated, thus aid in production and investment decisions. The analysis of economic data using the terms and procedures common to the business person provide for an easier understanding of the causes of economic events, and possible changes of direction.

Basic statistical methods applied to this modelling produce poor results, but graphical analysis provides reliable predictions of important trend changes when used in conjunction with qualitative information. Monitoring of important events and charting the key indicators developed in the model provide a trend change prediction several quarters in advance of the actual change. The method used is reliable and may be undertaken with a relatively small investment of time and money.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

C

. B

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Whittaker for his guidance and support. I would also like to thank Dr. Sprague for his encouragement and assistance in my fransition back to the field of Engineering.

I would especially like to express my gratitude to my father, who has given his support and blessing to my continuing studies.

To my wife who has tolerated the late nights and grumpy moods, I am thankful for your love and support.

-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

۲

•

٠

•

•

•

• •

¢

å

•

Pag	μe ΄
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Purpose	1
1.2 Problem Statment	1
1.3 Methodology	4
1.3.1 Theoretical Development: A Small Firm's View	
And And Andregate Economic Behaviour	6 🖌
Determining Changes	6 .
1.3.2 Testing The Theory: Sources of Data	7
1.3.2.1 Statistical Forecasting Methodology .	7
1.3.2.2 Graphical Methods of Forecasting	8
1.3.2.3 Applying the Model: Industry/Region	
Specific Application	9.
2. The Firm's View Of The Economy	10
2.1 The Income Statement	11
2.2, The Balance Sheet	16
2.3 Summary of Assumptions Made	17
3. Determining Change In The Economy	20
3.1 Using the Model to Understand the Economy	20 * .
3.2 Difference Relationships	22
3.3 The Final Equation	25

vi

•

·

	Pe	s. Se
4. Dat	Aquimition and Preparation	26
	4.1 Sources of Data	26
	4.2 Problems Obtaining Data	27
	4.3 Data Requirements for Analysis	30
	4.4 Summary of Required Data	38
	4.5 Initial Data Aquisition and Handling	38
, 1	4.6 Checking the Assumptions	39
	1	
5. St a	tistical Forecasting Methods	43
	5.1 Methods Evaluated	43
	5.2 Method Selection	49
ì	5.3 Effectiveness	48
6. G ra	phical Analysis for Forecasting	50
	6.1 Overview	50
	6.2 Gross National Revenue	51
	6.3 Changes in Savings Rates	54
	6.4 Personal Debt	
,	6.5 Inventories	63
	6.6 Net Exports	67
(6.7 Lead Time Summary	67
(6.8 Summary of Graphical Methods	68
•	6.9 Specific Applications	70

۲.

Xii

•

۱ ۲ (

6.10.1 Relative Strength of the Alberta Economy 72 6.10.2 Graphical Indicators 74 6.10.3 Observations in the News 75 6.10.4 The Projection 76 6.11 Model Effectiveness 77 7. Recommendations And Conclusions 80 7.1 Method Selection 80 7.2 Application 82 7.2.1 Data Required 83 7.2.2 Time and Investment Factors 85 7.3 Advantages 86

Page

Bibliography	• • • • • • • • •	•••••	 ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	88
Appendices .	•••••••		 	96

viii

<u>_</u>]

LIST OF FIGURES

.

•

.

,

**

•

٠

- -

Figure Pa	lg∙
4.3.1 Real Gross National Revenue	30
4.3.2 Income change Less Expenditure Change	33
4.3.3 Net Exports	34
4.3.4 Inventory To Sales Ratio	35
4.3.5 Ratio Of Total Debt To Personal Income	36
4.3 6 Ratio Of Consumer Installment Debt To Personal Income	37
4.6.1 Commercial Loans Outstanding	40
4.6.2 GNR Change Compared To The Change In Personal Debt	41
4.6.3 GNR Change Compared To The Second Order Change In	
Personal Debt	42
5.1.1 Quarterly Regression Error	46 ⁻
5.1.2 Yearly Regression Error	41
6.2.1 Real GNR Compared To Real GNP	51
6.3.1 Income Change Less Expenditure Change Compared To	
Gross National Revenue	55
6.4.1 Total Personal Debt To Income Ratio Caompared To	
Gross National Revenue	58
6.4.2 Ratio Of Consumer Installment Debt To Income Ratio	
Compared To Gross National Revenue	61
6.5.1 Inventory To Sales Ratio Compared To	
Gross National Revenue	64
6.6.1 Net Exports Compared To Gross National Revenue	66
6.10.1 Comparing GNR To Provincial GDP	72

ix

.

.

1.1 Purpose

The purpose of this work is to provide a method and model which may be used to provide non-specialists with forecasts of economy wide business conditions. This is to be accomplished by estimating macro-economic trends using commonly available information. Part of the application of this technique is to also provide the procedure to relate the macro-economic forecast to a specific industry or region.

1.2 Problem Statement

A problem faced by both large and small firms alike is that of forecast accuracy and applicability. A model, or service which uses a reliable model, is needed which will provide the business manager with reasonable forecasts of future economic activity. Any model or service must be timely, affordable, understandable and usable by non-specialists within the business environment. Production (output) and future invastment opportunities are the variables which need to be determined.

Management is responsible for forecasting and decision making, as well as general operations. Forecasts are required to assist the decision process for both current operations and long term planning. Short term decisions such as inventory levels, purchasing, scheduling and staffing require some prediction of the short to intermediate term economic climate. Most firms are price takers⁽⁵⁸⁾, and thus needs accurate prediction for operating decisions. An example is a business which manufactures and sells or leases material handling equipment for dry bulk

1

G....

materials such as fertilizer, grains and drilling mud. These products are usually manufactured and repaired on a steady schedule, while sales and leases are cyclical or seasonal. Inventory and production decisions are often made six to eight montha in advance. This requires a large investment in working capital. Inventory, marketing and pricing strategies to successfully move the product must be in place before the quantities are finalized.

At this time, management has few options for predicting economic trends. Models and applications specifically designed for the independent operator do not appear in the literature⁽⁷⁸⁾. Examples of forecasting techniques which are appropriate for larger firms, but which may have application to firms with fewer resources may be found⁽³⁸⁾. The methods discussed range from qualitative and empirical to mathematical techniques, using time series and regression analysis. The actual model which produces the forecast must be developed by each firm. This requirement, even with the advent of the micro-computer, tends to put many sophisticated forecasting tools beyond the scope of most small firms.

Most forecasts or predictions used in small firm decision making come from sources outside the firm. The focus of these forecasts generally does not reflect the production and investment situation desired by the firm Major sources of this economic trend information for the independent j business manager are as follows:

a. The electronic and print media.

b. The firm's accountant.

2

c. The firm's banker.

d. The owner or manager's stock broker or investment advisor.

3

e. The "grapevine" -friends and business acquaintances who provide various types and qualities of input.

f. Previous trends in the firm's sales or production.

g. Government recommendations.

h. Financial service publications.

Managers of firms generally form an opinion on the business outlook based on a consensus drawn from any or all of the above sources. This is an informal process, which usually has little, if any, pre-determined format. There is generally no theoretical basis on which to base these methods, and consistency may be a problem. Many advisory services exist which publish so called economic analysis, but most centre on financial market advice. The more noteworthy are rated in a publication called Hulbert's Financial Digest, which rates only market performance.

Firms such as construction contractors must make frequent decisions regarding major capital investments and commitments. Smaller contracts may have a lead time of three to four weeks, while larger contracts, or subcontracts from larger firms, may involve lead times of more than a year. An accurate forecast is needed in determining contract bids and buy/lease/sell capital decisions. Changes in the economic environment cause dramatic changes in construction equipment costs. A forecast for a recession/slow down may, for example, indicate that a low contract bid for next year may be profitable due to an anticipated drop in lease costs. The same forecast may also indicate that major equipment purchases should be delayed for a couple of years, and that an improved maintenance schedule be adopted. A forecast for an upturn after a recession would indicate a safer capital investment point.

This necessitates forecasting procedures or services which yield satisfactory results, while requiring being timely. This also highlights the need for readily available information with which to generate the forecast.

é •

The rapid technological advances of the last decade have resulted in advances in methods for use in medium to large sized firms, where resources are available for the gathering and processing of economic data. The conditions which have accompanied this recent rapid technological development have also increased the need for more sophisticated methods for the independent firm. Production and investment decisions are constrained to a reduced time frame, requiring a more active role on the part of the manager in understanding the forces which determine the course of the economy. However, the problem of owner/operator forecasting has not been addressed in a satisfactory manner.

1.3 Methodology

The model and methods which follow are adapted from introductory models for understanding and predicting aggregate economic behaviour, but are applied to the operations and decision processes of a business firm, on the micro level. The viewpoint of the manager of the firm is taken.

Economic data is set up in the context of the firm. The generally accepted accounting methods (GAAP) which the firm uses, are used to select the variables which are used to model economic behaviour. Accepted methods of economic analysis for management decisions, such as those in "Economic Analysis for Engineers and Managers", by Sprague and Whittaker^[82], will also apply. As this is a practical application, the model is designed to use information available in the print media, with sour bisted.

The focus of the model is to provide forecasts of direction or trend, with the expected magnitude of the trend being secondary. Flexibility to accommodate varying degrees of user effort, equipment and sophistication is provided. The range is from manual graphing and interpretation, to statistical analysis.

Historical United States economic data is used for two reasons. Firstly, the relevant data is readily available in many forms. Secondly, the Canadian economy foldows closely that of the United States, and can be expected to continue to do so due to the expected free trade agreement.

An integral part of the modelling is to provide insight into the variables and their economic effects. Commentary as to economic significance of events and variables, and departures from established theory is included. It is important for the manager to develop an intuitive understanding of the forces which move the economy. The goal of this aspect is to establish a preliminary base for qualitative analysis. Hopefully, this will also stimulate the model user to develop a deeper

knowledge of the factors which influence economic behaviour, to help make the firm's decision process more effective.

1.3.1 Theoretical Development: A Small Firm's View Of Aggregate Economic Behaviour

The firm's view of national income is developed using the same accounting principles as those commonly used by operating businesses in Canada. Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are followed.

An income statement and balance sheet are developed to establish which variables describe economic behaviour in the same reference terms as used by the firm. This is done by considering the product side of the economy as one firm. These statements are developed first with the government sector as an integral part of the economy, then with the government sector excluded to show only the private sector contribution. Commentary is provided to explain areas where this model differs from conventional economic theory. It is necessary to establish the differences, as this model is strictly from the firm's viewpoint.

1.3.1.1 Determining Changes

In determining changes and trends in the economy as a whole, the economy is assumed to be a positive feedback system, with an adaptive gain in the feedback loop. This is compatible with Rational Expectations Theory^[78]. Rational Expectations Theory assumes that the public forms expectations on the basis of previous experience and available information, and adjusts behaviour to reflect what is expected to occur.

Economic activity is not specifically a function of time, but rather a discreet sequence of events, with each event being dependent on previous events.

Simple difference relationships are developed to determine overall rates of change effected by changes in the separate variables. Factors, which are to be used in determining overall trends in the economy are thus isolated.

1.3.2. Testing The Theory: Sources Of Data

Information and data used for this work came from Federal Reserve bulletins, and pertain to the U.S. economy. A consistent source of data was a major consideration in this decision. Forecasting methods have been developed for the U.S. economy and are available for comparisons of accuracy. Sources of recommended publications which report the required data as it is released, is included.

1.3.2.1 Statistical Forecasting Methodology

Historical data is analyzed statistically to determine the most effective method for forecasting. The constraint used in this analysis is that the statistical methods and programming must be compatible with micro-computers such as may be used by a small firm. Methods range from multiple regression to time series analysis using Box-Jenkins and generalized least squares methods. The degree of the resulting functions and the respective coefficients are determined, as is the level of

accuracy. Comparisons are then rendered with forecasting methods used by

Two statistical packages were used, to reflect two levels of difficulty and sophistication in the statistical analysis. Minitab was chosen because it is the easiest to use, and operates with very straight forward instructions. This package is somewhat limited in scope, however. For example, only crude plots using "*'s" are available for residuals and predicted values. Minitab restricts files to 50 columns, although this can be avoided somewhat by using the matrix capabilities. Biomedical Programs (BMDP) was selected as being representative of the high end of statistical software packages designed for personal computer use. Comparable packages are the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) and the Statistical Analysis System (SAS). These packages also contain a greater variety of statistical tools and graphics capability than Minitab, at the expense of ease of use and equipment requirements, such as random access memory⁽¹²⁾⁽⁶²⁾.

1.3.2.2 Graphical Methods Of Forecasting

Methods of graphing and interpreting the variables, adaptable to either manual graphs or computer generated graphs, such as Lotus 1-2-3 graphs, are provided. The historical data used is appended, as is the Lotus format used. All the graphics displayed were generated using Lotus, to demonstrate what the actual graphs may look like. The size, however, is one half that of the actual Lotus graphs.

Graphs of the key model variables are analyzed to estimate future trends using qualitative methods. External news and information is incorporated in this procedure to determine the reasonableness of the projection.

Q

1.3.2.3 Applying The Model: Industry/Region Specific Application

The method to apply the macro forecast to individual industry groups or regions is outlined. Conventional micro-economic principles are invoked. The application centres on two factors: the income elasticity of demand, and the life cycle concept. Historical data may be comparatively charted or regressed against aggregate economic activity, as measured by the model, to indicate both industry growth as a ratio of GNP (life cycle related), and income related change (demand elasticity).

1.5

THE FIRM'S VIEW OF THE ECONOMY

The method used to formulate a model of macro-economic activity in terms of the firm, is to set up an income statement and balance sheet, treating the economy as a whole as if it were a business. Most businesses are generally required to use accrual accounting methods as established by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). However, because there are payments and transfers in the economy which are not normally found in the small firm, some assumptions must be made. Any assumptions made reflect GAAP, as would normally be the case with any firm.

2.1 The Income Statement

The first entry on the income statement is revenues. What constitutes revenues? The least controversial item in this category is exports. These are obviously revenue to the national economy. Denote exports by X.

The next, and largest entry to consider is consumer spending. This factor raises some questions. Start with the consumer income and work toward the domestic consumption portion of this income. Remember, the objective is to determine the portion which is spent on domestic production. Consumer income in this model is equivalent to "personal income", denoted by PI. Initially, the government is considered to be a supplier of goods and services to the consumer. Thus, PI is inclusive of personal tax. Spent income must be personal income, PI, less any savings, plus any increase in personal indebtedness, less imports (the portion

representing value added to goods and services purchased prior to entering the domestic economy). Denote net savings by S, the change in personal debt by PD, and imports by M.

Note that savings is not included as income, while debt increases are. This is to match revenues with expenditores. Future income represented by debt, is matched to current expenditure, while current income in the form of savings, is omitted until such time as it is expended.

Government expenditure is normally considered as part of GNP, but is not included herein. Since the government is assumed here to be a supplier of goods and services, government expenditure is a cost incurred in "producing" goods and services for personal (taxpayer) consumption. The revenue is represented by personal taxes paid plus the net increase in government debt (cost to the taxpayer). The question arises as to why the increase in government debt should be considered as revenue. This is due to the fact that the consumer ends up paying the government debt. Government debt is passed on to the consumer in one of three ways: by future tax increases, reduction of wages and/or dividends at the firm level, or, deflation of the currency by issuing more money. This is **on** example of accrual accounting^{(35)[71]}. Future consumer income is used in the current period.

Revenues accruing to any producer of non-consumer goods represent in-process costs in the production of final goods and services, and thus

are represented in the final price of the goods and services. This is merely the value added principle of economic theory, and is used to prevent the double counting of expenditure. Profits, when viewed from an economy tide standpoint, will be considered as part of the production cost of good and services, which is compatible with the methods used to calculate revenue requirements for an investment.

It investment costs, business taxes (direct and indirect) and profits are implicit in the expense associated with final goods and services. Investment analysis considers taxes and profits as a cost to be passed on through the final price of she finished good or service^[82]. Investment becomes value added through depreciation expense. It can be seen also that investment is not either revenue, as in conventional economic theory, nor expense. Initial investment is an asset transfer which shows up on the balance sheet.

The following * expression for national revenue, (denoted by NR) results:

>

NR = PI - S + PD + X - M Where: PI= Personal Income S= Savings PD=Personal Debt X= Exports M= Imports

This deviates from the traditional economic view which includes savings and business investment as part of Gross National Product (GNP). We are interested here in modelling aggregate activity atrictly from the perspective of the firm.

Costs, or expenses, to match with the revenue are straightforward. Using accepted methods for determining the costs associated with sales we get the following result:

Cost Of Goods Sold = Opening Inventory + Production

- Closing Inventory + Profits.

Cost Of Goods Sold (COGS), represents only consumer goods and services. Why? Because all other goods and services are implicit, through the value added principle, in this cost. Therefore, inventories and production in the equation only pertain to consumer goods or exports.

With government included, all government expenditures represent costs or expense incurred in providing goods and services to the public. These may be direct, or indirect (such as business taxes). Thus, government spending is not a revenue, but an expense in this model. The final income statement is as follows: Personal Income

Less: Personal Savings

Less: Imports

Plus: Exports

Plus: Increase in Personal Debt

Plus: Increase in Government Debt

Equals: Gross National Ravenue

Opening Inventories

۴.

v

Plus: Current Period Production of Goods and Services Less: Closing Inventories of Consumer Goods Plus: Profits on Consumer Goods Sold Equals: Gross National Expense

Most firms only see the government sector from the cost side (taxes), and thus a private sector view of the economy better reflects what the firm sees and deals with A private sector formulation requires only the elimination of the appropriate government factors from the previous statement. On the revenue side, taxes are subtracted, while the increase in government debt are not included. On the expense side, only private sector consumer goods and services are to be included. Up to this point, the government was considered as a supplier of final goods and services (defense, medicare, etc.) to the public.

>

The income statement for the private sector of the economy is as follows:

Personal Income

Less: Taxes and Transfers Less: Personal Savings Plus: Increase in Personal Debt Less: Imports Plus: Exports

Equals: National Private Sector Revenue

Opening Inventories of Non-Government Consumer Goods Plus: Production of Non-Government Goods and Services

Less: Closing Inventories of Non-Government Goods

Plus: Profits On Non-Government Goods and Services

Equals: National Private Sector Expense

This income statement represents, in the terms used by small, private firms, the economic activity for a given period of time. In equation form it looks like this:

 $\mathbf{P} - \Delta \mathbf{I} = \mathbf{D}\mathbf{I} + \Delta \mathbf{N}\mathbf{D} + \mathbf{N}\mathbf{X}$

Where: P= consumer goods and services production for the period,

including profits

 Δ I= change in inventories

DI= disposable income (Personal Income less Taxes and Transfers \triangle ND= net change in Personal Debt less Savings

NX- Net Exports (X-M)

2.2 The Belance Sheet

Following is the development of an economy wide balance sheet, using the perspective and methods of the firm. Remembering that profits are considered a cost, there are no retained earnings. This is a reasonable assumption for an economy wide balance sheet in that earnings would either be paid out to consumers (owners or wage earners), or reinvested. If reinvested, they would move on the balance sheet from current asset to long term asset, with no corresponding change in the overall balance

In this manner, it can be seen that assets are converted to cash and vice versa in the economy. New investment shows up in the equity portion of the balance sheet, as well as the long term asset portion

The balance sheet for the private sector of the economy (excluding government) looks like this:

Current Assets	Current Liabilities
Cash	Payables
Receivables	Loans Due
Inventory	Taxes Due
Long Term Assets	Long Term Liabilities
Investment	Long Term Debt
Less Accumulated	
Depreciation	

No mention is made of foreign transfers or cash flows in this

formulation. Direct cash payments and loans only appear as such, regardless of to whom they are owed. The government's international transactions are considered internal to the government. The net cash and debt changes reflect the net changes the public (consumer) and firms must account for. It is assumed that turrency and merchandise and services trade behave according to established economic theory, in terms of adjustments and long term effects^{[6][17][28]}.

2.3 Summary of Assumptions Made

٠,

Developing a macro-economic model from the perspective of the firm requires assumptions which yields a slightly different formulation than conventional economic theory. This is due to the nature of the approach. Economic theory tries to capture the economy from all sides and thus requires additional variables and information which are not germaine to a small firm. Normal operation of a firm takes a narrower view, and requires matching revenue with the appropriate expense, which often requires matching events or transactions that take place in different time periods.

The assumptions which arise in this approach are:

- A. Savings are not counted as income. From the standpoint of the firm, there is no expenditure.
- b. Increases in personal debt are counted as revenue. This reflects the expenditure of future income today.
 - c. Government expenditures represent costs of providing goods and services to the public. The revenue (income) matched to this

expense is represented by taxes plus the increase in government debt.

d. Increases in inventories are not considered revenue or income. This item is an asset increase, and thus a balance sheet item. There is no revenue to match to the increase in inventory. This represents future revenue, when the inventory is sold.
e. Investment is not considered as revenue. There is no expense to match it to. Investment represents an asset transfer. Investment becomes an expense to be matched to revenue when it is depreciated in the production of a consumer good or ice, and thus becomes part of the value added.

ð.

135 m

The ve added principle implies that all intermediate costs such as investment (by depreciation), materials, labour, etc. are reflected in the final good or service provided to the consumer or destined for export. The correct application of this principle requires matching expenses and revenues from different time periods. An example is an automobile. The expense includes mining iron ore, producing electricity, designing and many other operations which can take place years before the final product is produced and sold. These factors are important from the standpoint of the firm in the decision process.

Macroeconomics, on the other hand, has differing goals, and thus models events in a different manner. Economics seeks to determine the theoretical cause and effect relationships in the economy. This entails the study of the economy as a whole: the consumer, government, the

business sector and international trade. The business decision maker needs to be aware of this. The differing views should be noted, and caution used when reviewing economic reports in the media, as the methods used by economists are not the same as those used in business. Complex economic research and policy planning requires a different frame of reference that production and investment planning in a firm. The study of market clearing forces and adjustment mechanisms, and fine tuning the theoretical implications of these processes is far broader than business planning requirements. Economics, as a science is interested in determining the cause-effect relationships in economic behaviour, while the business person is interested in making money.

3. Determining Change In The Economy

3.1 Using The Model To Understand The Economy

Prior to developing relationships with which to determine expected changes in economic trends, the underlying model, on which changes are based, should be outlined.

The economy operates as a sequence of discreet events^[17], with some type of adjustment process between each event. The economy can thus be described as a discreet event sequence with some type of feedback mechanism. This can be thought of as an adaptive feedback function which is based on previous events. We can describe this process as similar to a positive feedback system, with some type of adaptive gain function in the feedback loop.

This feedback gain represents the adaptive effects of the consumer. These effects are, caused by the consumer forming expectations of future events based on current information and experience. The resulting change in economic activity is added to the current output level, represented by Gross National Revenue (GNR), as modelled in chapter 2, generating the new or adaptive output level. This is simply rational expectations theory^[76] formulated in feedback control theory terms. Here, GNR is the model's equivalent of Gross National Product (GNP) in conventional economic theory.

Ĭ,

Using this type of formulation, changes in economic activity represented by G, become a function of all previous events:

 $G = fn(C_t, C_{t-1}, \ldots, C_{t-\infty}, NX_t, NX_{t-1}, \ldots, NX_{t-\infty})$

where C represents personal consumption and NX represents net exports at all current and previous time periods. This represents an approximation of time interval, as the numbering was chosen to demonstrate the dependence on previous events. This is consistent with methods used in policy and strategy formation and decision processes at both the firm and government level. The firm, when making production and investment decisions, estimates the market for its' goods and services. As all goods and services are represented by final consumer goods and services, or net exports, future trends in these variables determine the ultimate market conditions. The government formulates policies to achieve prescribed goals in economic growth. This entails varying action form stimulating to slowing the economic of the case with the firm, this ultimately rests on expected trends in consumption and net exports.

This modelling assumes that new output levels are equal to previous levels plus some change. The change is some function of all the previous economic events! Note that nothing is said here as to the exact nature of the operation of this feedback mechanism. As is the case with control theory, we should be able to determine the performance of this gain based on empirical data without precisely defining causality. We need only to accept the assumption that the economy acts in a sequential manner and adapts on the basis of previous events. Rational expectations theory supports this approach through the principle of adaptive expectations.

This model does not relate to a time base. The economy is not considered to be time dependent, merely sequential. This requires the reliance on empirical data to provide an expected relationship between events and a predictable time base for change. This is an approach commonly used in econometric studies, which attempt to establish time-event relationships based on empirical data.

A characteristic of feedback systems which support the determination of a time relationship is that changes in the gain function are the cumulative result of all previous events and changes. Another factor which assists in relating a time base to predicted changes is that many economic events occur on a regular basis. Financial reporting, holidays, pay periods and political activities tend to be highly regular. Human behaviour being what it is, however, precludes any exact prediction. Any major changes in trend could be expected to be proceeded by certain types of events, while minor trend variations or fluctuations would likely occur randomly.

3.2 Difference Relationships

The income statement developed for the whole economy resulted in the following relationship:

Production - Net Inventory Change =

Disposable Income + Net Debt Change + Net Exports Or, using the prescribed variables:

 $P - \Delta I = DI + \Delta ND + NX$

Rearranging the terms to reflect the desire to determine production levels, which is the goal of the forecast to be developed, we get:

$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{DI} + \Delta \mathbf{ND} + \mathbf{NX} + \Delta \mathbf{I}$$

Using the first total differential, assuming independence, to describe change:

$$\triangle P = \triangle DI + \triangle^2 ND + \triangle NX + \triangle^2 I$$

- It should be stressed that the feedback model does not assume that the variables are independent. In fact, the model would indicate that the variables are correlated. We now have a basis to establish production change, determined by the predicted change in four variables, if the covariate relationships may be determined. Of the four components, two are second difference relationships, while two are first order.

Disposable income is a composite figure which has taxes and some minor transfers such as federal pension contributions included. The net debt factor is composed of total borrowing less net saving for the period. Net Exports and Inventories are single items.

These relationships lead to the following: Δ DI = Δ PI - Δ T - Δ TR

And

٠,

Δ ND = Δ PD - Δ S Where: DI= Disposable Income PI= Personal Income T= Taxes €

TR= Transfer Payments ND= Net Debt PD= Personal Debt S= Savings

Implicit in the difference relationships are additional factors which contribute to changes in consumption levels and net exports. While investment is not modelled as income, changes in investment result in changes in income. Consumption is approximately dependent on the rate of change of investment. In the simple case, where investment remains constant, consumption brought on by this investment would not change appreciably. An example of this type of consumption is wages paid to workers in the construction of a new plant. This consumption will vary as the rate of investment varies from period to period. It may be noted that this investment change, as with other investment decisions, should be determined by expected trends in consumer behaviour and exports.

Tax changes also affect consumption levels, as does central bank policy. Some research indicates that consumption varies with freeome levels⁽²⁰⁾, so the group most affected by policy changes will be expected to dominate. This sumes that most policy changes affect the so called "middle class prise the bulk of the consuming public. Representing Person with C and Personal Taxes with T, this relationship can be

 $\Delta C/\Delta T \approx 1.$

Currency changes affect the net export level of the economy, but evidence shows that this is a very slow process^{[13][14]}. Lag periods may extend up to months or years, giving ample advance warning of production adjustments. Since the rate of change would be highly variable and very dependent on individual product elasticities, separate analysis would be required to determine the specific change rates. Overall rates:

$0 < \Delta NX/\Delta ER < 1$

ER= the exchange rate.

In determining rates of change of general economic activity, these factors will be assumed to be implicit in the adaptive expectations which determine the variable changes in our equation. Most policy decisions are well reported and are assumed here to be implicit in the adaptive process as well. The same case can be made for foreign policy decisions. This, however, requires caution. Political and economic stability should be evaluated in these instances.

3.3 The Final Equation

Collecting all the terms, we arrive at:

 $\Delta \mathbf{P} = \Delta \mathbf{DI} + \Delta^2 \mathbf{ND} + \Delta \mathbf{NX} + \Delta^2 \mathbf{I}$

= \triangle PI - \triangle T - \triangle TR + \triangle ² PD - \triangle ² S + \triangle NX + \triangle ² I

Production is determined by predicting changes in seven variables, and estimating the covariate relationships between the variables. Reliable data on each variable, or reliable data on composites of two or more of the variables is required for evaluation, prediction and verification.
4. DATA ACQUISITION AND PREPARATION

4.1 Sources Of Data

Both the regression and graphical analysis require the collection of data to reflect the variables considered. Some of the variables must be calculated using published data, and some of the information must be estimated from graphical releases. Historical data was acquired from three sources: The Business Conditions Digest⁽⁸⁸⁾, The Federal Reserve Bulletin⁽¹³⁾, and The Historical Chart Book⁽¹⁴⁾. The historical values were obtained from single charts or tables for the complete period from 1953 to 1986. It is assumed that the consistency of the data would be enhanced by obtaining the material from a single source where possible.

These sources also contain additional useful information in both tabular and chart form, and provide an inexpensive method of graphically observing economic activity, both on the aggregate level and in specific industries. Data on virtually every sector of the U.S. economy is tabulated or charted in these sources. Regional information, however, must be obtained from regional government sources. Data for the Alberta economy was obtained from Alberta Treasury publications^[1].

1

These sources are recommended as the basis of historical data, and should be used to update data obtained in the short term from other sources. This provides a consistent data base, or rather a more consistent one, given that the data tends to "float" somewhat.

Daily and weekly newspapers and financial papers and magazines also



provide the required information on a regular basis. Care must be taken in using data from these sources, as it may often be "real", "current", "seasonally adjusted", "smoothed", "annual equivalent" or some other variation on the adultery theme. Data of any form is seldom reported in a readily useable form for this analysis, and may not be very consistent. Another factor is that data from these other sources is reported at different time periods, and buried among other financial information, making it difficult to collect.

4.2 Problems Obtaining Data

e 1.

• Two categories of problems arise in obtaining the necessary data to be used in the analysis. First, the required groups are not conveniently reported. Secondly, the data is "rubbery", in that there are many revisions and changes in the data which may or may not be reported. Data collection methods reduce the effectiveness of the data. Accumulation and reporting takes place over intervals of time, with no common reporting period for all data. With an assumed interdependence of all economic activity, time lags between reporting of differing types of data make isolating the different contributions of the variables difficult, due to interactive effects during the reporting lag.

Changes in taxes and transfer payments are not frequently reported. Disposable income figures, which are net of taxes and transfer payments are, though, and can be used as substitutes.

A major problem occurs in the failure to report changes in household

debt in the areas of home mortgages and home equity financing. Without this information, the net saving or debt changes cannot be calculated. It should be noted here that differences exist between existing and new home purchases. Down payments on new homes are a decrease in savings, while those on existing homes may or may not be. Purchases from individuals are transfers of savings from one individual to the next, while purchases from a firm are decreases in savings. Another important factor is that only the increase in value of the existing homes is considered income. The information required to determine all of these factors is not all reported in any form.

2

The method of reporting home purchases results in a very cumbersome process for determining changes in debt and savings. The following are reported in the Federal Reserve Bulletin: New home sales, average unit price, and the ratio of mortgage to purchase price, existing home sales volume and average unit price are reported, but not the ratio of mortgage to purchase price. Total change in household mortgage debt figures are available in chart form, but not tabulated. The existing home sales data prevent an accurate breakdown of down payment versus mortgage. Information may or may not be obtained directly from the Federal Reserve Board on special request (their response was unclear). Alternatively, an estimate of the desired data may be obtained from the charted value, by using a scale to measure the quantity desired. This presents some difficulty, but will provide a reasonable proxy for mortgage debt data.

Currently, savings is calculated as merely the difference between

disposable income and personal consumption spending. Home purchases are considered as private investment. This creates a confusing view of the actual economic activity. The down payment may represent a decrease in saving but will not show in the calculated saving rate. On the other hand, from the production standpoint, home sales are final, not investment. The irregular and incomplete reporting of this information makes the estimation of changes in the housing sector of the economy difficult.

Personal consumption is reported regularly, and represents virtually all non housing and personal investment expenditure by the public. This quantity includes non-mortgage debt implicitly, and may be used as a predictor for the non-housing sector of domestic income.

Imports and exports are reported regularly, as are changes in finished goods inventories.

The nature of the data gathering and handling processes also creates problems with the data. Surveys are done in each area of interest to the Federal Reserve Board, and then aggregate quantities are estimated from the surveys. The variability of the results are not published with the results, and changes in estimating procedure are not always published. Studying historical data charts reveals many changes in "historical" data after the fact. While many of the changes are denoted by "r", signifying a revision, many just appear.

Calculations necessary to render some of the data useful also create

another source of error. Ratios, such as those for mortgage debt versus home price are estimates, and have variability and round off error, when multiplied by price (an estimated quantity) increase the overall level of error.



4.3 Data Requirements For Analysis

Figure 4.3.1 Real Gross National Revenue

The first information required is a measure of the overall level of economic activity. This quantity is represented by Gross National Revenue in the model previously developed. The values were calculated using the formula: GNR - Personal Consumption + Home Purchases + Net Exports

Personal Consumption figures are published quarterly, and were used directly. The current dollar values were used. Home purchases were calculated by estimating the change in home mortgages as a percent of personal income, assuming a three to one ratio between down payment and mortgage (conventional ratio), and calculating the dollar value based on four thirds of the mortgage ratio. This is not accurate, but uses readily available information, which is required by the scope of the analysis. Net Exports are reported on both a monthly and quarterly basis. Quarterly figures were used.

Personal Consumption plus Home Purchases is also equal to Personal Income plus the change in Personal Debt less the change in Personal Savings. This requires collecting data on Consumer Instalment Credit, which is reported monthly and quarterly, and estimating other non-mortgage debt from the Monthly Chart Book graphs of household debt as a percent of Personal Income.

To give a better comparison between time periods, the level of activity should be adjusted for inflationary effects. This is accomplished by using the Implicit Price Deflator, or GNE Deflator. This adjustment yields Real GNR, as shown in Fig. 4.3.1. Real values are calculated by multiplying the nominal value by 100/GNE, where GNE represents the GNE deflator. The GNE Deflator is reported quarterly, not monthly, so conversions of data to "real" values between reporting periods will involve estimating of [©] this parameter. As it ohanges slowly, a good assumption is that it is constant throughout the period.

It is desirable to have a measure of savings in the economy. Current calculations are unacceptable, as they do not allow for down payment on homes, and the resultant effect on savings. The necessary information is not conveniently reported but can be estimated. Personal expenditures can be calculated, as can periodial income plus increased debt. If we take the change in income and subtract the change in expenditure, we arrive at a measure reflecting the change in savings rate. In calculating this measure, debt changes are accrued as income for the period. This helps separate debt effects from income and saving effects. Without knowing the actual level of saving, we can calculate the change in the level for the quarter. An estimate for down payment on mortgages of 25% is used in this calculation. Historical data in the <u>Federal Reserve Bulletin</u> indicates that this is reasonable. The value calculated reduces to the difference between personal income and personal consumption plus down payment.





Figure 4.3.2 Income Change Less Expenditure Change

Figure 4.3.2 shows a four period moving average smoothing of this difference. This smoothing was done to preserve the trend effects of the changes, while reducing the volatility, to give a better view of direction.

بر

ź



Figure 4.3.3 Net Exports (\$Billions Annual Rate)

Det exports are a small part of the U.S. economy, but receive much attention. Many heated political debates are generated by trade figures. These figures (displayed in Fig.4.3.3), previously described, were also maintained separately to be used to indicate possible changes in policy arising from trade problems. This can lead to movement on the currency and financial markets. Following trade balance data will give an indication of possible currency trends.



Figure 4.3.4 Inventory to Sales Ratio

Inventories are a costly part of most business ventures, therefore one would expect them to be important in determining the course of the economy. The most convenient reporting of inventory information is the inventory to sales ratio (Fig. 4.3.4). This figure reduces the sensitivity of the gross dollar values by reducing the level effects, and focusing on production effects. Inventories of final goods, when converted to a ratio of overall activity, show no improvement over the regularly reported inventory to sales ratio. This ratio is reported both monthly and quarterly. The quarterly figures reflect the trends adequately for the model proposed. To determine trends in inventory to sales ratio a 20 Quarter moving average was selected as a reasonable proxy for the short term trend. Debt is an important variable in the model proposed. The two questions which arise regarding debt are whether the level of debt or, the ratio of debt are more important. The use of a ratio eliminates the need to convert data to real values, but still retains all the pertinent information about debt. The actual level of debt is important with respect to income level i.e. the ability to repay. Two types of debt were chosen. Total debt, Figure 4.3.5, was chosen to reflect the overall debt burden of the consumer.



Figure 4.3.5 Ratio of Total Debt to Personal Income

The debt ratios were calculated from data released quarterly. A proxy for personal debt which is reported monthly is Consumer Instalment Credft, Figure 4.3.6. The ratio of Consumer Instalment Credit to Personal Income is used as a short term measure, and also a measure which is more sensitive to short term interest rate fluctuations. The total debt load is more influenced by longer term rates, because it includes home mortgages, whose rates change more slowly than consumer loan rates.



Figure 4.3.6 Ratio of Consumer Instalment Credit to Personal Income

Application in a specific area (to be covered later) necessitates gathering information in the related area(s). This data can be tabulated with the standard data above, or kept in a separate file.

1

4.4 Summary Of Required Data

The specific information which needs to be tabulated for general analysis is as follows:

1. Personal Income (quarterly and monthly).

2. Personal Consumption.

3. Household Borrowing for the period.

4. Monthly Consumer Instalment Credit Outstanding.

5. The Implicit Price Deflator (GNE Deflator).

6. Net Exports.

7. Inventory to Sales Ratio.

8. Down payment on Home Purchases.

4.5 Initial Data Acquisition And Handling

Prior to any statistical or graphical analysis, it is advisable to take a look at the data in graph form to determine which methods may give the best results. To accomplish this, the data was entered into a Lotus spreadsheet, columns were established for both raw data and calculated values, and plots produced for the variables under consideration.

The plots required are the following:

1. Real Gross National Revenue.

2. The difference between the change in Personal Expenditure and

the change in Personal Income, with two period moving average smoothing.

3. The Total Personal Debt to Income ratio.

4. The ratio of Consumer Instalment Debt to Personal Income (monthly).

5. The Inventory to Sales Ratio with 20 period moving average smoothing, and running average smoothing previous values.

These plots, most of which are included in the publications listed will provide the basis for graphical analysis of economic activity. Other supporting graphs and information in these publications will be used as well, such as interest rate charts, commodity price charts, and specific industry information. When plots are made, effort should be taken to preserve the nature of the data. Fluctuations should not be smoothed out of the graphs prior to analyzing the graphs to determine which type of smoothing, if any will best reflect the true underlying trend. Long term aggregate trends and long term debt curves which are fairly smooth help give a feel for the effects of change, but near term analysis requires the visible impression of the period to period changes.

4.6 Checking The Assumptions

Immediately after acquiring the data, plots were generated of the variables which were used in other than a conventional manner. These were inventories, as represented by the inventory to sales ratio, business investment, as represented by commercial loans outstanding, and the first and second order of change of personal debt.



Figure 4.6.1 Commercial Loans Outstanding

Comparing the graph of Inventory to Sales Ratio, Fig. 4.3.4, with Gross National Revenue, Fig. 4.3.1, it can be seen that the trend in inventories, as measured by the inventory to sales ratio, remains up while expenditure is down, as expected.

Turning to business investment, compare Figure 4.6.1, Commercial Loans Outstanding, to Gross National Revenue, Fig. 4.3.1. In this comparison, business loans often continue to increase at times when GNR, which reflects consumer spending and exports begins to decrease. This may reflect the need for increased financing for inventories and other costs while sales are slowing, as well as late reaction to the trend.

40

Ľ



Figure 4.6.2 GNR Change Compared to the Change In Personal Debt

These two comparisons show that counting inventory and investment increases as income, as indicated by conventional GNP measures, may send confusing signals to the small business manager. With production and capital investment decisions being the focus behind the analysis, removal of mixed signals is important.

Graphical support should be shown for the idea that the change in economic activity is related to the second order change in personal debt. Figure 4.6.2 shows the change in personal debt compared to the change in GNR. Note on the graph that when the change in debt is increasing, the change in GNR has an approximately constant positive trend. When the debt change trend flattens out, the GNR trend turns down, and when the debt

Þ



trend turns down, the GNR trend flattens out in the negative region.

)

Figure 4.6.3 GNR Change Compared to the Second Order Change in Personal Debt

Figure 4.6.3, the second order change in personal debt demonstrates the relationship more closely. The data has a distributed relationship, in that it varies from lead to lag, but the graphical representations of the data do lend some credence to the assumption of a relationship between the second order change in debt and the first order change in economic activity.

5. STATISTICAL FORECASTING METHODS

5.1 Methods Evaluated

Three methods were considered for use in forecasting future economic activity. These were Time Series analysis and regression analysis using statistical packages for personal computers, and regression using Lotus 1-2-3. The statistical software used was BMDP and Minitab.

Time series analysis yielded very poor results. As an example of how poor, Straight line regression provided better results. The GNR time series was the object of this analysis. Both the gross value and the first order change were studied. Prediction of the level was more accurate than the change, but both were poor, yielding useless predictions. Various differencing combinations were tried, as were log, normalized and price adjusted (real) transformations. All failed to create a stationary series.

The autocorrelation functions and partial autocorrelation functions of the GNR showed declining correlations, while the same functions for the change showed small sample correlations for more than 30 lags. The various transformations produced some interesting designs, but none of any use. Some were nearly symmetric and appeared repeating in a harmonic fashion, but could not be manipulated into a stationary series.

ŝ,

These results give credence to the assumed behaviour of the economy. A positive feedback system with an adaptive gain function in the feedback loop should show correlations through long lag periods, with the correlation being difficult to track due to the adaptive nature of the gain function.

Multiple regression using the same variables as those graphed, to predict GNR level, gave favourable results for one quarter forecasts. Eurots were largest where changes in trend occurred. Yearly and longer forecasts were no better than guessing. Standard error (though not reliable) ranged from one half to one percent of GNR, or thirty to fifty percent of change. This in line with current institutional forecasts, which are produced at less timely intervals.

A

The actual regression procedure involved identifying which variable combinations would yield the best results based on the model description. Differences of up to eight were tried, as were nonlinear criable. Problems arose with both cross and serial correction in the data. Methods used to skirt this problem were to convert the data by using rates, ratios, differences between variables and normalized variables. In many instances, these still produced "singular matrix" errors when attempting to regress the variables. Observing the X^TX matrix in both regular and inverted form revealed the problems. Another problem which was a characteristic of the data was that of heteroscedacity (non-constant variance). The variances of the data, especially in converted form could not be expected to be either the same or constant throughout the range. This implies that the estimators, though still unbiased, are not minimum variance. Further evidence of this was given by high correlation values with low significance of the individual estimators.

The final option considered to deal with these problems was to

utilize the matrix capability of the software to run a generalized least squares regression. This method yielded no results. There is currently no straightforward method of developing the necessary weighting matrix to allow for the differing variances and covariances present. A trial and error simulation method was considered, using guessed relationships, but proved too complex for individual applications.

45

Attempting to use the software packages identified another problem, that of adding variables to improve the fit. When using highly correlated data, one cannot be certain of the significance of each variable entered. The analysis using the multiple regression capability of Lotus 1-2-3 verified this by giving results comparable with less than 50% increase in standard error.

The Lotus regression showed more standard error but similar correlation coefficient (99.8 vs. 99.9). More significantly, the predicted values for the next quarter were within 20% of those predicted by more variables. As with the statistical software packages, spikes occurred in the actual error when changes of trend occurred.

Both methods gave poor results when used to predict periods greater than two quarters. Lags became prominent, rendering the farecast values useless. Better results for longer term were obtained using nominal values and an exponential relation (log regression). This result should be apparent from viewing the nominal values for GNR. The trend has never been down. At times, the rate of increase has slowed, with actual decreases in



Figure 5.1.1 Quarterly Regression Error (\$billions)

Q

value happening only three times. The problem with this is that without knowing the inflation rate, only a guess is obtained as to the real level of economic activity. The long term implication is that, in nominal terms, there will be steady growth. Recessions, though are "real", but fortunately are a short to medium consideration in the decision process.

Long term projections may be enhanced by using the previously described graphical methods to predict when a change in trend may occur. Figures 5.1.1 and 5.1.2 show the regression error for quarterly and yearly forecasts using Lotus. The error resulting from more complex regression showed less variance, but the same general pattern. The plots shown, done with Lotus, show the change in billions of dollars, annualized.

 \mathbf{O}

5.2 Method Selection

The most accurate regression forecast for quarterly prediction was achieved using the Lotus regression procedure on the level of GNR versus previous levels and one to seven differences, and adjusting with a smoothed value based on previous error. The smoothed value which gave the most favourable results was achieved by using two thirds of the previous two errors. Yearly and longer forecasts were most effectively obtained by extrapolating the recent trend and adjusting for expected changes of trend as predicted by graphical means.

The resulting error in the quarterly forecast was in the order of 50-60% for determining change. This compares with methods employed by larger firms.



Figure 5.1.2 Yearly Regression Error (\$billions)

The choice of the Lotus based method was enhanced by the ease of graphing as well as the regression capability. Forecast error spikes may be detected by plotting predicted values and visually verifying if they are reasonable. Large errors may sometimes be detected in this manner.

5.3 Effectiveness

Statistical methods which may be used conveniently by casual users have not been suitably developed. To completely analyze the available data to determine the levels of contribution to economic change and correlation to other variables is beyond the scope of most business people. Regression of up to 8 variables, which Lotus will do, will provide a reasonable forecast of the next quarter. Error increases with the lead time and requires adjustment for provintial trend changes. This adjustment can be effected more easily by using manual techniques. Computer analysis will not, in the small business environment, improve the forecasting of major trend changes in the economy, as compared to graphical methods. Since it is often more important, for the small business person, to know whether or not the trend is about to make a major change, rather than the degree of change, graphical methods prove superior. The main advantage of the computer in a small business application is not the potential for statistical analysis, but rather the ability to generate graphs from data more readily than can be accomplished manually.

In comparison to published economic forecasts, the statistical methods are in the same ball park in terms of trend. The August 8, 1988 issue of <u>The Edmonton Journal</u> carried an article by Seymour Friedland for

Ę

the Financial Times News Service, which described economic forecasts as being the same as tossing a coin. The source quoted in the article was the American Statistical Association. This contradicts earlier published material⁽⁵²⁾, but must be taken seriously, as the source is highly respected. The previous material claimed accuracy of 1% of GNP or 50-75% of changes in GNP. The Harvard Business Review⁽¹¹⁾ took an intermediate stance which recognized the variability in the accuracy of current forecasts, but acknowledged the need for some type of forecast, and recommended the use of more than one forecast to smooth out bias and error.

49

<u>)</u>

•. • •

6. GRAPHICAL ANALYSIS FOR FORECASTING

6.1 Overview

Graphical analysis is composed of two parts. The obvious part is that of observing and analyzing the graphical representations of the model variables. This was done by treating each variable separately. The second, and equally important aspect is that of corroborating the data with other events which are reported in the media. Qualitative analysis^[5] was then applied using the criteria laid out in each section.

When analyzing graphs it is important to be aware of trends and violations of trends. A close look at the graph will give an impression of what is happening. A ruler and pencil should be utilized to give an indication of areas where changes of trend may be expected. These usually occur after long term trends have been broken. Drawing lines to bracket the vertical range of data, and observing how these lines, called "support" and "resistance" lines gives indication as to possible changes in long term trends. It is also highly important when using judgemental methods that more than one or two indicators be used.

Observing reported events and comparing them to the hard data will develop understanding with regards to the almost living nature of economic activity. The various shifts and flows of which particular types of conditions and parameters hold the most control are often better felt than quantified. Galbraith^[33] commented that sometimes the numbers describe the economy, and sometimes non-numeric descriptions are best. By analyzing a cross section of data, we let the graphs and supporting information, such

₹. _

as policy, commodity movements and things such as weather patterns form a consensus of where things are headed. Objective views from different angles enable one person to develop a consensus opinion as to where the economy is headed based on these views. The major consideration in any objective analysis, however, is to be impartial and remove "hopes" and biases from the procedure. The economy does not know you and your desires, nor does it care.





Figure 6.2.1 Real GNR Compared to Real GNP

The first step in the analysis is to plot, from the Lotus file, Gross National Revenue (GNR), as described in the model (Chap. 3). Figure 6.2.1 shows GNR as well as the more conventional Gross National Product (GNP) measure. Peaks, troughs and regions of flattening slope in the graphs should be marked with vertical lines. Next, label the ranges between the peaks and subsequent troughs, and regions of flat growth to denote the separate slow downs in the economy. This procedure will be followed with each figure to mark changes. For this, and each graph following, apply the criteria discussed to observe the characteristics before each trend change.

ŗ

Spots where the trend is flat (no growth) are be noted as well, as they are slow downs in the economy. These lines provide the reference times for trend changes in the economy, which is the goal of the analysis. Remember that these changes in growth patterns are not the same as commonly reported "GNP" figures.

A comparison with conventional GNP data⁽⁶⁾ shows that there were more slow downs in GNR than GNP (Fig. 6.2.1). <u>The Business Conditions Digest</u>⁽⁸⁸⁾ indicates recessions or slow downs in the economy for the following periods, with graph labels noted:

1. From the second quarter of 1953 to the middle of the second quarter of 1954.

quarter of, 1958 (labelled A).

C. From the middle of the second quarter of 1960 to the first

quarter of 1961 (labelled B).

D. From the end of the fourth quarter of 1969 to the fourth quarter of 1970 (labelled D).

E. From the end of 1973 to/the first quarter of 1975 (labelled E).

F. From the end of 1979 to the end of the second quarter of 1980 \prime (labelled F).

G. From the end of the second quarter of 1981 to the fourth quarter of 1982 (labelled G).

The 1958, 1960, 1970, 1973 and 1980 recessions were indicated one querter (1973) to four quarters (1980) ahead of actual reported (GNP) recessions using the GNR measure. The measure for GNR showed a downturn the 1966-67 period, while more conventional methods (GNP) showed growth. This disparity reflects the difference in focus- the concern here is personal consumption and net exports, where business revenues are generated.

Fibounds in the economy, as indicated by the GNR graph occurred from two quarters early to the same time as GNP measured change.

Items of note in the sixties were the Kennedy tax cut, proposed near the beginning of the decade, and implemented fully by 1964, the Vietnam War, which saw major U.S. involvement by the mid-sixties, and the tax increases of the late sixties, beginning in 1968. The tax increase had a twofold purpose, to slow the economy by removing the stimulus of the previous tax cuts, and to help finance the war. These events contributed to the mild recession of 1970^[17].

Ł

The volatility in economic activity after 1970 should be noted. After 1971, the U.S. was off the gold standard, moving to unbacked paper money, and shifting to monetary policy as a means to control economic activity. International trade conducted in \$U.S. was no longer fixed in terms of relative currency values. This factor relates to the importance of debt in the proposed model. One additional item from this period was the withdrawal of American troops from Vietnam. This put a damper on the economy, which was accustomed to war related industrial growth.

6.3 Changes In Savings Rates

The long term trend in GNR (Fig. 6.2.1) is up, with fluctuations along the way. The major component of GNR is Personal Income. We need another measure which may reflect expected personal income changes. This is reflected in the change of income less change of expenditure measure. Is the savings rate increasing or decreasing relative to expenditure? This is important in that savings are potential consumption. A drop in savings rate is equivalent to increased use of income now versus income later from the firms' perspective, indicating reduced future personal expenditure. Increases in savings rate indicate the opposite.

As described earlier, the change in personal expenditure is subtracted from the change in personal income, to indicate the change in the savings rate. Figure 6.3.1 shows a four period moving average smoothing of this quantity. The smoothing was done to preserve, on





Figure 6.3.1 Income Change Less Expenditure Change compared to Gross National Revenue

. .

balance, the trend of the difference. To compare Figure 6.3.1 with the trend changes in Figure 6.2.1, lines are drawn with a ruler and pencil to reflect the turning points in the economy.

The analysis of this graph requires following of other news and information which may affect the rate of savings. Has any policy been announced which validates a change in this measure? Examples are announced tax increases or decreases, which may affect long term savings. The plot does show, however, that this measure of savings rate change turns negative for more than two quarters several quarters before a peak in the The explanation for this is that savings rates are reduced during econor an expansion, and at some prior to the peak, the consumer decides to increase the savings race thus reducing consumption growth. This appears to happen before every slow down or recession. It may be that when the consumer has spent or reduced the accumulation rate of his savings, and wishes to rebuild his savings account prior to more purchases. However, one must be careful not to use this indicator alone. A good example is 1962. Note that the savings rate is sharply negative. At the . same time the Kennedy Administration was drafting tax cuts aimed at stimulating the economy. This was well known at the time, and may have increased spending levels on the expectation of higher income in the future.

Several quarters (more than a year) prior to the 1974 and 1980 recessions there were extended periods of negative savings rates, and, as will be seen in the following section, were accompanied by peaking

3

consumer debt.

When using this indicator it should be determined if there has been two years since the last recession or slow down, and if there is any news related to the change. If an expansion in the economy has been under way for some time, and this indicator has been negative for more than two quarters, a trend change is indicated, unless the change in the indicator is explained by some news development. Examples of news which may affect savings are tax changes, monetary policy shifts, inflation or currency changes. Excepting the 1954 recession, when this indicator turns positive for one or more quarters, the economy is at or near a bottom. One consideration of that time period was the fact that personal debt was very lob (section 6.4).

6.4 Personal Debt

Personal Debt is, as all be shown, probably the best indicator of future economic growth. This measure gives a good view of the consumer's willingness and whility to purchase in the near to medium term. A look at the grash will give an indication of consumer liquidity, and generate an impression of the time frame before a change may occur. The same consumer dollar court buy goods and services and pay back debt at the same time. Conversely, relatively low debt levels indicate an increased ability to purchase as debt servicing costs are low. From the model, the borrowing rate fine to stay the same or increase from period to period to maintain growth at the very least, debt cannot decrease by more than personal income measaes to have growth. Another major factor is that personal



٩.



Figure 6.4.1 Ratio of Total Consumer Debt to Income Ratio Compared to Gross National Revenue

•

.

S.

debt has limits. It is assumed here that the consumer will balk at borrowing when either debt or debt servicing costs reach some absolute level or ratio of income. Principle payments may be delayed, but interest payments generally have to be made. Both these factors are sensitive to changes in interest rates.

no

The ratio of total debt to personal income is plotted to give a view of longer term debt commitments. Figure 6.4.1 shows this graph. Again we draw lines to reflect turning points in the economy. Observe that when the rate of increase in debt slows (the slope of the debt ratio curve becomes less positive), the economy slows. Note as well, that when the rate of decrease slows (the slope becomes less negative), the economy can grow. This reflects the relationship between the second order change in debt and the change in economic activity. We see as well that the rate of borrowing slows before dropping and vice versa. The graphical representation is quite smooth at the resolution shown, making the trend changes appear gradual.

Note that the growth in personal debt peaks well before the economy at large. If we couple this with the evidence that GNR peaks at or often before conventional GNP measures, a good lead time is established. A visible decrease in slope appears three to eight-quarters before a peak in the economy. It is advisable to be aware of external factors, however. The mid to late sixties saw a general decrease in the overall debt level. As was mentioned earlier, there was economic stimulus from the Kennedy tax cuts during this period. These types of events are why the slope change

is more important than whether the slope is positive or negative.

٢

A more revealing portrait is drawn by Figure 6.4.2. The ratio of Consumer Instalment Credit to Personal Income is included because it is assumed to be the most sensitive and responsive indicator of the consumers purchasing power. Short term debt has the highest cost and the greatest volatility of personal debt instruments. To get a grasp of the cost of the debt, as well as the level and trend, graphs in the recommended source material should be consulted while analyzing the debt graphs. The volatility has increased since the dropping of the gold standard and the increased use of monetary policy instruments by the Federal Reserve Board. As with the previous plots, the trends are marked, but with this graph (Fig. 6.4.2) one more step is taken, peaks and bottoms are marked also

Using methods which are commonly used in the brokerage business, draw in trend, support and resistance lines. At peaks or valleys, draw horizontal lines. Between peaks or valleys, draw lines connecting peaks or valleys. The significance of these lines is to establish trend ranges.

The following important observations should be made:

1.) Is the current level above(below) the previous peak(valley)? Compare the horizontal lines. This may indicate either an approaching peak, or a change in the consumers' willingness to acquire debt.

2.) Is the current level above(below) the trend line connecting the previous two peaks(valleys)? This is more likely to indicate both a change in long term trend, and an approaching short term trend change.





Figure 6.4.2 Ratio of Consumer Installment Debt to Income Ratio Compared to Gross National Revenue
3.) How long has the short trend been sustained? Look to see how long the direction has been in place since the last short term directional change. A breakout in either 1. or 2. coupled with a trend in 3. of a few quarters indicates a directional change is near.

4.) Is the rate of change (slope of the curve) increasing or decreasing? 5.) Changes in interest rates. The Business Conditions Digest and the <u>Historic Chart Book</u> contain short term interest rate graphs. Is the trend in interest rates the same or opposite to the trend in borrowing? When the interest rate is established in the same direction as the change in debt, a change in the direction of borrowing should be close. If they are going in opposite directions, there is more time until a change in economic direction.

The explanation to item five is that if debt is increasing(decreasing), and so are interest rates, the consumer will soon reach a point where he/she will stop(start) borrowing.

Follow any news which may indicate sudden changes in monetary policy. These often give clues to where rates, and thus, borrowing are headed. It is wise as well to keep track of the reliability of reported policy and events and the subsequent responses. The oil supply crisis of the mid 1970's is an example. The Federal Reserve Board was determined to stop inflationary pressures caused in part by jumps in oil prices. This resulted in tight monetary policy, resulting in dramatically increased interest rates, which in turn put extra pressure on consumers.

12

62

The bottom line on consumer debt is whether or not the consumer is liquid. By observing recent borrowing trends, an opinion can be made as to whether the consumer is in a position to take on much debt. If the consumer debt ratio is near or below the previous low, the consumer may be considered relatively liquid. Conversely, if this measure is above the previous whigh, it can be assumed that the consumer may be running short of borrowing power. This determines the potential for growth or recession. The switch from the gold standard to unbacked paper money in 1971 seems, from the graphs, to have increased the volatility in the consumer credit. Consumer credit is a large portion of the economy, and has recently shown large percentage swings. The increased reliance on debt instruments throughout the economy is an indication that predicting changes in debt trends are important to the business person. The two measures of consumer debt can give advance warning on the order of one year of potential trend changes. This is the result of two factors. The slope change will point to a change in trend, or, the existence of a breakout from the previous pattern will indicate a correction or change of trend is approaching. Research in the form of monitoring of news and events is required to give insight into the nature and severity of the effects.

6.5 Inventories

Inventories management is an important focus of small business. Economy wide, inventories are also important. Large levels of inventories may result in layoffs, causing pressure on prices and employment. Low levels may lead to price rises and inflationary fears. Inventories may also indicate changes in economic conditions.



*1



Figure 6.5.1 Inventory to Sales Ratio Compared to Gross National Revenue

Q

When inventory levels drop below desired levels, the need for increased production is signalled. This leads to investment and expansion. A problem occurs if the consumer is "tapped out", or financially overextended. The production then stays on the shelves. How may this be indicated? A look at Figure 6.5.1 will give some clues. When the inventory to sales ratio bottoms and begins to turn up, the economy slows in 4 to 8 quarters. When the ratio peaks, a recovery is mean.¹ The use of a 20 period moving average smoothing of trend is useful to help estimate when levels are above or below desired levels, using the trend line as an estimator for desired levels.

When the ratio crosses the trend line, it must then be determined if the ratio can continue on that side of the line for any period of time. It must be asked if there is good cause to expect this condition to last. This entails a check of consumer debt and savings graphs. Check to see what condition is the consumer in. The news should be followed and noted for developments. Technological developments may affect output levels or inventories. Government policy changes may have inventory effects. Supply considerations, such as material shortages may also affect inventory levels.

The plots show that industry tends to over-react to both recoveries and recessions. Two observations come out of the graphical analysis of inventory to sales ratios: Too much is produced late in the recovery cycle, and too little is **produced** late in the recession cycle.

65

()





Figure 6.6.1 Net Exports Compared to Gross National Revenue

6.6 Net Exports

Figure 6.6.1 shows the trend in net exports for the U.S. For most of the period from 1953 to 1986, the range has been close to zero, with a slight positive bias. In more recent years, though, this has changed. Since dropping the gold standard and moving to floating currency, trade fluctuations have become more volatile. This has led to increased activity in trade legislation and policy moves to affect interest rates and currency. A long running, relatively large trade deficit is a recent consideration in the U.S. economy. Already we are seeing tremendous changes in currencies and in Congressional action. Economic theory indicates that the currency should go in the same direction as the trade balance⁽⁷³⁾.

.

6.7 Lead Time Summary

Ð

The Gross National Revenue measure tends to change direction one or more quarters ahead of Gross National Product (GNP). This reflects the inclusion of inventory increases and investment increases in the calculation of GNP.

The measure reflecting the change in savings rate, calculated by subtracting expenditure change from income change, (smoothed four quarters) moves from three to twelve quarters ahead of the economy. Significant notative readings (three or more quarters in the negative region) indicate peaks five to seven quarters away.

Trend breakouts in the debt ratios indicate change in approximately

six months to one year. Slope changes indicate about two quarters. These should be considered in unison with each other and interest rate trends to obtain the best results.

The inventory to sales ratio normally shows signs of bottoming three or more quarters before a peak in GNR.

6.8 Summary Of Graphical Methods

The proper application of the graphical analysis is to check each graph for indications of trend change. This is accomplished by comparing past and present trends. Differences in the graphs from period to period indicate possible changes in trends. The expected trend is based on the indications of a majority of the indicators, with support from outside news. The indication of each variable is considered, in conjunction with any other available relevant information, and added to the rest, resulting in a 4, - or neutral reading. The severity of the change is indicated by the degree of disparity the variables display compared to previous changes. Are all the variables indicating change, or only most? Are the indications strong, or mild for each variable? Is there any other justification for the variables to behave this way? This warns the manager to adopt policies which reflect the expected events.

Factors to remember while analyzing the graphs:

1. Consumer borrowing peaks prior to recessions, and bottoms prior to recoveries.

2. A negative move in savings rate of 2 or more quarters indicates a

possible downturn, while a move to the positive region during a recession indicates a turnaround.

3. A bottoming in the inventory to sales ratio indicates a slow down, while a top indicates a recovery. A move across the long term average suggests checking the other indicators and news for evidence that a bottom or top is near.

4. Net Exports give an indication of possible changes in interest rate and trade policy.

5. The GNR graph (Fig. 6.2.1) gives a rough indication of when to expect change. This measure moves ahead of conventional GNP, as shown by the same graph. A look at the time between slow downs will give an indication of whether a change may be due.

6. Follow key news items. When it is reported, for example that the consumer can no longer lead the recovery, what are the implications? Other themes which may be in the news near trend changes are "things couldn't be better(worse)." Ironically, they may be right. If this story is correct, then a change is near.

14

Following this, check for any external clues such as news items which may influence one or more of the indicators. It is important to remember to keep track on a continuing basis of important events and their effects. It cannot be stressed enough that an indifferent attitude be applied. While observing the graphs questions such as "Can this go on?", or "Is this reasonable?" should constantly be on one's mind.

What is the savings trend, and how high can debt go before it

becomes a burden to the consumer? Previous levels and current short term trends will provide an estimate. Conversely, when is the consumer liquid? Debt is a very important factor in consumer behaviour.

What is the overall economic trend? Where are interest rates heading? Have we just seen a recession, or have we experienced a long period of growth? Historically, recessions or slow downs happen every few years⁽¹⁷⁾, as do subsequent periods of growth. Periods of growth tend to be longer, and as the GNR graph (Fig. 6.2.1) shows, the long term trend is rising.

What are inventories doing? Steady movement one way or the other indicates an imbalance. Why are inventories changing? Is it a long term trend, or a signal of short term change?

Where are Net Exports going? Has there been any prolonged imbalance which may result in international payments problems or policy changes? What will be the effects on the currency?

Asking these types questions forces the analyst to form a consensus of the information. This is important to the small business manager, who often is a sole proprietor, with little in the way of informed input.

ે

6.9 Specific Applications

The previous section discussed methods of forecasting aggregate economic activity. The rationale behind this is to determine the overall picture. Once the major direction of the overall economy is predicted, it remains to determine where a specific area or sector is headed. The principles which will be used here are those of income elasticity and life cycle. Markets respond to the income Tevel in the economy either positively, negatively, or neutrally. Markets also respond to time change in the same fashion. This reflects changes in consumer preference and technology.

Both these factors are present in the rate of change of a sector or region with respect to the overall trend. To apply this, one must obtain data which reflects the particular sector and determine the relationship with the trend. Type of relationships include lagged, leading, linear, nonlinear, constant, positive and negative. The nature of the relationship > may be observed by plotting both sets of data against time, and thef comparing the two trends. This plot will indicate the relationship between the sector under consideration and the economy as a whole.

6.10 An Example: The Alberta Bust

The Alberta recession of the early 1980's provides an opportunity to illustrate a specific application of the graphical forecasting methods. Information in this illustration was that available prior to 1981, with some of the subjective material dating to 1978-79. The Alberta Treasury was the source of economic data for the province. Grain and livestock trends were obtained from the 'Federal Reserve Bulletin and Richardson's Greenshields. Oil price and trade data were obtained from the above sources and the Federal Reserve Monthly Chart Book. Additional news items which were noted.

6.10.1 Relative Strength of the Alberta Economy.



Comparing previous economic data of the rate of change of Provincial gross domestic product versus the rate of change of Gross National Revenue (GNR) showed an approximately constant relationship between Alberta's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and GNR. The cumulative rates of change were

3

used. That is, the Alberta was growing at a constant ratio to its U.S.

The information in the news gives insight as to the possible future relationship between the local economy and the U.S. economy. 1. The unanticipated success of the Chinese agricultural reforms of the late 1970's, which resulted in dramatic increases in agricultural productivity for a major importer of our grain surpluses.

2. Warnings from Sheik Yamani of Saudi Arabia of the dangers of oil prices over \$28 per barrel coupled with massive exploration ventures and development of unconventional oil resources specifically North Sea oil reserves indicated a possible saturation of the market. Spot prices for oil were erratic, and meeting high resistance at the \$35.00 a barrel -range. There was also much evidence of cheating on production quotas by OPEC members.

3. The United States Department of Agriculture reported figures estimating the grain in storage in the U.S. at more than two thirds of a bumper crop. 4. Commodity prices in general had peaked and were beginning to decline. 5. Real Estate prices had ceased their sharp rise, exhibiting topping action at historic levels. Agricultural land was selling at prices which could not be amortized for any time period, given the interest rates and cash flows prevailing at the time.

The evidence put forth in the news of the 1978-1979 period indicated that perhaps the expectations of sky-rockering oil prices and continued strong growth in Alberta were optimistic. The news indicated a levelling off of the oil industry and a decline in the agricultural freector. Continued success of the British North Sea oil development and cheating by OPEC members could even generate a downturn in oil prices. The failure of oil prices to continue upward supports this idea. A decline in these two areas would mint to Alberta maybe holding its own but more likely under-performing to S. economy.

6.10.2 Graphical Indicators

Refer back to the previously discussed graphs (Fig. 6.2.1 to Fig. 6.7.1), and cover the post 1980 data. This will then show what was seen in the late 1979.

Graphical analysis, showed the following:

• he GNR began to decline in mid 1979, while GNP showed flat to modest growth (Fig. 6.2.1) after several years of rise, pointing to a possible slow down.

2. By late 1979, consumer instalment credit (Fig. 6.4.2) had been rising for 3 years, hitting an all time high as a percentage of personal income, breaking out of the previous pattern. A minor GNR downturn in '79 barely slowed the borrowing, but the borrowing was slowing.

3. The total debt to income curve (Fig. 6.4.1) was also in a break out position, pointing to a possible correction.

. The difference between the change and expenditure change (Fig.

6.3.1) turned negative in mid 77, registering six quarters in the negative region, a bearish event.

5. The inventory to sales ratio (Fig. 6.5.1) had bottomed prior to the slow down in 79, and was just beginning to rise, indicating a slow down in sales or over production.

All of the graphical indicators sat in moderately to strongly negative position. These negative readings in all but GNR were indicated for more than two quarters prior to the end of 1979, indicating the peak was closer.

6.10.3 • Observations in the News

The following are news items of the day:

1. Constantly in the news was the desire of the Federal Reserve Board of the United States, more specifically Paul Volker, the board's chairman, to bring inflation under control.

2. Interest rates were sharply rising, verifying the Federal Reserve Board's stated policy to stop inflation, and putting increased pressure on the overextended consumer.

3. GNP was reported to be growing at a modest rate. This was given as evidence that the fight against inflation caused by an over heated economy was being won. This spells trouble for any highly leveraged individuals or firms, as any price decreases may lead to difficulties.
4. Banks are failing at a rate not seen since the Great Depression.
Defaults and bankruptcies are forcing banks out of business. Savings and so institutions are the hardest hit.

5. Budget deficits were seen to be out of control.

Talk of \$80 oil which would run out in ten or fifteen years was rampant.

The major news indicators pointed to a slow down in the economy.

6,10.4 The Projection

The graphical indicators and the supporting news indicators indicated a recession. The expected lead time of two to six quarters pointed to a mid 80 to mid 81 down turn. It remained to estimate the severity of the downturn which was expected.

The high levels of debt and interest rates, when compared to the 73 recession, indicated that it could be the same degree of severity as 73 if not more severe. The rise in both long and short term consumer debt from the previous macession low took both levels to historic highs. The graphs both demonstrate flattening exponential shapes, indicating a resistance to higher debt levels. This, coupled with interest rates near historic levels made debt servicing levels very high. The consumer was not liquid, by historical measure, and any move to build liquidity may become severe, as indicated by the distupbing new trend of declining troughs which point to more debt liquidation on the move.

The bottoming of the inventory to sales ratio at fairly high levels (by historical standards) may mean high levels of unemployment. A slow down in the economy with high inventory levels coupled with high initial



output levels contributing to those inventories may lead to a protracted down turn.

The developing grain glut coupled with uncertainties in oil price movements give rise to the possibility of a more severe reaction in Alberta. Charts of the period indicate a peaky and erratic oil price. The grain situation is poor, with huge surpluses in the U.S., equivalent to 2/3 of a bumper grop. The interest gate outlook indicated the possibility of actual deflation, which would create problems with liquidity. The outlook appears very negative for the local economy.

Subsequent even werified this projection.

6.11 Model Effectiveness

Applying the above procedure to the period from the mid fifties to 1986 results in the prediction of all the slow downs in the period. The application of external information helped to indicate the severity of the slow downs. A slow down was indicated by the graphs for the 1966 time frame, but additional information pointed to slow growth rather than an actual downturn. The anticipated tax cuts were in full force, enhancing consumer liquidity, and the Vietnam war effort was escalating, artificially inflating the economy, and keeping inventories and unemployment low.

Authoritive comment on current macroeconomic forecasts comes from the American Statistical Association. In August of 1988, this organization, as reported in the <u>Edmonton Journal</u>, concluded that economic forecasts currently available predicted changes as well as flipping a coin. This is a disheartening revelation to the business manager, who often relies on widely published information for trend projections. As a footnote to illustrate the point, September 14, 1981, the President's council of economic advisors announced that there could not be a recession

in the selling year.

ings up a point about published forecasts, especially government ones. Virtually no government official will predict a downturn in the economy. There are two reasons: It makes it tough to get votes and there is the possibility that such announcements may cause a downturn. Statements from officials, such as the Federal Reserve Chairman tend to be stronger, and use terms such as "if we don't ... then maybe ...". Most other organizations know as well that "doom and gloom" forecasts are not popular. The usual procedure in these cases is to kill the messenger.

Some sources^[52] indicate yearly and quarterly forecasts with standard error accuracy of up to 1% of GNP. Checking a graph^[8] on Real GNP gives some indication as to why this is possible. Estimating the trend using a ruler, over the long run, can give a good guess. The problem is in determining changes in trend. This is where the errors are largest.

A Harvard Business Review article^[11] suggests that forecasts are better than nothing, and that a consensus approach be used to make a prediction based on several forecasts, and their expected reliability. The

graphical method suggested here recommends using outside information, though not specifically forecasts, to assist in the process of determining validity.

79

To sum up, the graphical method will give a prediction of downtur which is superior to those generally available to the business person. The model will also lend verification to forecasts of growth which are seported.

4.1

RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

7.1 Method Selection

The previous two chapters discussed methods of forecasting aggregate economic activity, and applying the forecast to a particular industry or region. The rationale behind this approach is to first determine the overall picture, then to estimate how a particular industry or region fits into this picture. It was also determined that more conventional approaches to obtaining or developing a prediction of the future were less than satisfactory for the business application by managers.

The statistical methods, regression and time series analysis yielded results which were inferior to graphical interpretation methods. While the time series analysis did provide some evidence for the assumption of an adaptive gain model of economic adjustment, forecasts of grand and tread change were poor. If the economy is an adaptive gain, positive feedback system, this is to be expected, as serial correlations will not disapper. Regression analysis was limited to methods which could be reasonably explained to the uninitiated business person. This entailed using fairly simple relationships of the -variables, and differencing of these variables. Here, Lotus gave basically the same results as the more sophisticated statistical software packages. However, errors were largest at 'turning points.

Graphical interpretation using the methods recommended gave the best predictions of turning points, and could be conducted without computer

assistance, if required. These methods require the visualizing of conditions using plotted data, and developing an understanding of and sensitivity towards factors which influence the economy. This provides a long term benefit to the business person who is looking for a workable model which will enable both a better understanding of economic variables, and generate reliable forecasts. An indirect benefit may accrue by the use of the model to provid a for tasting service of the smaller business person who may not have the inclination to develop his or her own forecasts. The application of this model is non-restricted to any group, though it is adaptable to any business environment, as the goal is to provide a "user friendly", effective precasting procedure.

The method proposed proves superior to the more conventional current methods used for business applications^[11]. Current methods entail, primarily, the use of third party information, with little verification of the effectiveness of the forecasts, or the gathering and analysis of data and information without a set model or procedure. As outlined in the Harvard Business **Note**^[36], the different methods require anywhere from a few hours a week up, and varying levels of expertise.

Statistical methods, while still requiring the gathering of data, tend to develop a reliance on the calculations. If the economy operates on an adaptive basis, the effects of the variables could slowly change without the statistical model indicating the change. This would increase forecast error over time. Current third party and in-house forecasts fall short in the accuracy department. In short from both an accuracy an

usability standpoint, the graphical method is superior, and thus is recommended for business use, as a management tool. Potential may also exist for special applications, such as forecasting services.

7.2: Application

Two steps are involved in the application of the recommended graphical method of forecasting. A procedure for gathering reliable data and producing the plots needs to be established. This includes the determinination of data types and necessary calculations to produce the proper raw and calculated data to plot. The second step is in developing a feel for reading trends in both the data and the news.

A consistent data base is important. So achieve this goal, three publications from two sources are recommended. These are the <u>Business</u> <u>Conditions Digest</u>, from the U.S. Commerce Department, and the <u>Historical</u> <u>Chart Book and Federal Reserve Bulletin</u>, from the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Board. All the data required is in these three publications in both tabular and graphical form. Only the calculated values for savings change are not included. Information is available on a subscription basis. Industry or regional information should be obtained from these or other governmental sources. These are the prime sources for other, secondary sources.

Due to the delay of up to one quarter in some of the data, more immediate information is required in the short term. The two recommendations here are <u>Barron's</u>, (preferred) a weekly paper, and <u>The</u>

82

. •

Wall Street Journal, a daily. The format of <u>Barron's</u> is more user friendly. Just open the back two or three pages, and all the information is there. Most of the supplementary information for the judgemental process is also included. Being a weekly publication, only the more important material is covered. Care must be taken to verify the form of the data, and to update with the government data as it becomes available.

83

7.2.1 Data Required

All the data items are required quarterly, except personal income, which required in both monthly and quarterly form, and consumer instal redit, which is required monthly.

1.) Total Debt or Total Debu to Personal Income Ratio. The convenient method is to estimate, this office chart of the Total to Personal Income Ratio (<u>Historical Chart Book</u>).

2.) Consumer Instalment Credit. This figure is reported in most financial sections of newspapers. The ratio can also be estimated from charts (<u>Historical Chart Book</u>).

3.) Personal Income. If the debt ratios are not entered in the data, this item is needed to calculate them (<u>Business Conditions Digest</u>).

5. Mortgage Debt This is can be estimated from the household debt chart (used in 1.). One third of this value is used as a proxy for down payment on homes.

6.) Personal Consumption. This is used in calculating income change less

.

expenditure change (Business Conditions Digest).

7.) Implicit (GNE) Price Deflator. This is optional, as all the graphical values depend on ratios, or in the savings change measure, a positive or negative value. This deflator does, however, reduce the variability between time periods, reducing the spread from one end of the graph to the other (<u>Business Conditions Digest</u>).

8.) Inventory to Sales Ratió, plus a 20 quarter moving average (calculated) (<u>Business Conditions Digest</u>).

9.) Net Exports. The nominal quantity is usually reported, as is the case % with all the non-ratio variables (<u>Business Conditions Digest</u>).

10.) The calculated value for savings change and a four quarter moving average are needed.

When updating data, it is important to maintain consistency. Changes in the variables may be reported in percent or nominal quantity, while levels may or may not be reported. Net Exports and Inventory to Sales Ratio are reported as is. Choose one reporting style and adjust by any necessary calculation to convert to the desired form for the analysis. Appended are two Lotus files (monthly and quarterly) with the appropriate entries and calculations.

Reading the trends requires that the resolution is not too high. Some blurring of data and the provide the normal sources are even the the underlying trend. The explanatory graph is the the table of resolution required. The charts in the recommended sources also display the type of resolution which makes analysis easier.

Interpretation require actice. Plots, trends and events are compared to fine tune for thing skills. The method is judgemental in nature. Reason is employed to observing and understanding the graphs. A series of self-generated questions such as those suggested should be asked. A list should be made up, and updated with relevant questions to seek answers to while conducting the analysis.

7.2.2 Time and Investment Factors

A major consideration in the implementation of any program is the expected cost of introducing the program to the operation. This is composed of two factors in this case, time and money.

The cost of introducing the recommended forecasting model is minimal. Yearly subscription cost the desired publications cost , is <u>Barron's</u>, \$92 (U.S.), the <u>Business Conditions Digest</u>, \$44 (U.S.), and the <u>Federal Reserve Bulletin</u>, \$65 (U.S.). <u>The Historical Chart Book</u> is \$1.25 per copy, published quarterly, and the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas offers The Economit Review free. It is assumed that the local news is tracked as a matter of course.

The time requirements are low as well. Collecting storing and plotting the data require less than one hour per month. This is independent of manual or computer use. The reading of <u>Barron's</u> and the local newspaper require the most time. Watching the news on television once a day adds another few hours per week. Relevant information should be noted and kept on file. This process will take two or three hours per week. The interpretation of the graphs and comparison with the noted material will take another hour or two per month.

The time and monetary commitments are not prohibitive for any business person (including the owner/operator) who desires to improve operating and capital decisions by utilizing an effective forecasting tool. Someone wishing to use this model to provide a forecasting service would have ample time to produce forecasts and supplement them with additional insight and information, while maintaining a monthly or biweekly format. This provides a potential secondary method of generating forecasts for the firm who may not wish to do in house forecasting.

7.3 Advantages

The projected graphical prediction method provides the means for the business manager, or an agent wishing to generate forecasts for smaller and other firms, to model the economy and forecast trend changes. What was once, largely 'externally supplied from questionable sources may be internally generated and tailored, over time, to the individuals firm's needs. Events associated with the last recession demonstrated the need for better forecasting methods, especially for privately held firms. While the failures of large firms made the news, the majority of the business failures were smaller, privately held businesses.

The independent business is usually a price taker in the economy.⁽⁵⁸⁾, and therefore is at a disadvantage if conditions are not correctly

. 86

anticipated. The firm's management decision making process requires reasonably accurate forecasts. Being in gear with the economy will remove a major source of risk to the success of business enterprises.

87

With the accurate trend predictions, the following may be accomplished ahead of time, reducing risk:

1. Inventories may be built up or trimmed.

2. Production plans revised.

3. Personnel requirements re-evaluated.

4. Marketing and pricing strategies adjusted.

5. Procurement methods re-evaluated.

6. Short term financial situation - payables, receivables, working capital policies reviewed.

7. Long term capital investment/divestment decisions reviewed.

The correct course of action is the easiest to accomplish, but often the hardest to detect. At economic peaks, it is easy to sell, as there are lots of buyers, and at bottoms the reverse is true. This probably reflects the advantage provided by the models' accurate trend predictions. Being able to give a high probability projection of when the trend may change enables the manager to better capitalize on the moves. The major failing in this method is that there is not certainty in the time frame provided. This problem is common to other types of forecasts. The answer to the uncertainty problem: it's better to get off the track an hour before the train gets there than one second too late.

1 BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alberta Treasury, Bureau of Statistics, Alberta Economic Accounts, 1968-1982.
- [2] Allen, R. G. D., An Introduction to National Income Accounts, McMillan, 1978.
- [3] "Anderson, W. H. Locke, National Income Theory And Its Price Theoretic Foundations, McGraw Hill, 1979.
- [4] Ascher, William, Forecasting: An Appraisal For Policy Makers and Planners, Johns Hopkins Unifversity Press, 1978.
- [5] Ayton, Peter and Wright George, Judgmental Forecasting Wiley,
 1987.
- [6] Barro, Robert J., Macroeconomics Second Edition, Wiley, 1987.
- [7] Barro, Robert J., Unanticipated Money Growth and Unemployment in the U.S., Queens University Institute For Economic Research, 1976.
- [8] Bates, James A., and Parkinson, J. R., Business Economics, Third Edition, Basil, Blackwell, 1982.
- [9] Batten, David F. and Lesse, Paul F., New Mathematical Advances In Economic Dynamics, Croom Helm, 1985.
- [10] Beare, John, Macroeconomics- Cycles Growth and Policy in a Monetary Economy, McMillan, 1978.
- [11] Bernstein, Peter L. and Silbert, Theodore H., "Are Economic Forecasts Worth Listening Too?", Harvard Business Review, Sept.-Oct. 1984.

- [12] BMDP Reference Manual, University of California Press, 1985.
- [13] Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Federal Reserve Bulletin, Jan. 1968- July 1988

Ł

- [14] Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Historical Chart Book, 1986
- [15] Boucher, Thomas O. and Elsayed, Elsayed A., Analysis and Control of Production Systems, Prentice Hall, 1985.
- [16] Bowerman, Bruce L. and O'Connell Richard T., Time Series Forecasting, Second Edition, Duxbury Press, 1987.
- [17] Branson, William H., Macroeconomic Theory and Policy, Second Edition, Harper and Row, 1979.
- [18] Bryant, Ralph C., Controlling Money, Brookings Institution, 1983.
- [19] Carlson, J. A., "Expected Inflation and Interest Rates", Economic Inquiry, Oct. 1979.
- [20] Cencini, Alvaro, Time and the Macroeconomic Analysis of Income, Saint Martin's Press, 1984.
- [21] Chambers, Edward J., National Income Analysis, Scott, Foresman, Glenview, 1975.
- [22] Claycombe, William W., and Sullivan, William G., Fundamentals of Forecasting, Peston, 1977.
- [23] Cornell, Bradford, "Monetary Policy, Inflation Forecasting and the Term Structure of Interest Rates", Journal of Finance, Mar.-May 1978.
- [24] Dauten, C. L., and Valentine, Lloyd M., Business Cycles and Forecasting, Sixth Edition, Southwestern Publishing Co., 1978.

- [25] Denton, Frank T., Data Revisions and Forecasting Accuracy, Department of Economics, McMaster University, 1973.
- [26] Dernberg, Thomas Frederick, Macroeconomics- Measurement, Analysis and Control of Aggregate Economic Activity, Sixth Edition, McGraw Hill, 1980.
- [27] Doody, Francis S., Introduction to the Use of Economic Indicators, Random'House, 1965.
- [28] Federal Reserve Bank Of Dallas

₽

- [29] Fels, Rendig and Hinshaw, C. Elton, Forecasting and Recognizing Business Cycle Turning Points, Columbia University Press, 1968.
- [30] Frank, C. R. Jr. and Van Arkade, B., Economic Accounting and Development Planning, Revised American Edition, Oxford University Press, 1969.
- [31] Frazer, William Johnson, Crisis in Economic. Theory, University of Florida Press, 1973.
- [32] Frenkle, Jacob A. and Rodriguez, Carlos A. "Portfolio Equilibrium and the Balance of Payments, A Monetary Approach", American Economic Review, Sept. 1975.
- [33] Galbraith, John Kenneth, The Affluent Society, Third Edition, Revised, Mentor, 1976.
- [34] Gapinski, James H., Macroeconomic Theory: Statics, Dynamics and Policy, McGraw Hill, 1982.
- [35] Garrison, Ray H., Managerial Accounting, Business Publications Inc., 1983.
- [36] Georgoff, David M. and Murdick, Robert G., "Manager's Guide

to Forecasting", Harvard Business Review, Jan.-Feb. 1986.

- [37] Godet, Michel, The Crisis in Forecasting and the Emergence of the Prospective Approach, Pergamon Press, 1979.
- [38] Goldberg, Matthew S. and Thurston, Thomas B. "Monetarism, Overshooting and the Procyclical Movement of Velocity", Economic Inquiry, Jan. 1987.
- [39] Gordon, H. A., Business Fluctuations, Second Edition, Harper and Row, 1961.
- [40] Granger, C. W. J., Forecasting and Economic Time Series, Academic Press, 1986.
- [41] Granger, C. W. J., Forecasting in Business and Economics, Academic Press, 1980. (check)
- [42] Gross, Charles W., Business Forecasting Youghton and Mifflin, 1976.
- [43] Gujarati, Damodar N., Basic Econometrics, Second Edition, McGraw Hill, 1988.
- [44] Hall, Robert E., Macroeconomics: Theory, Performance and Policy, Norton, 1986.
- [45] Hanke, John E. and Reitsch Arthur G., Business Forecasting, Allyn and Bacon, 1981.
 - [46] Hanna, R. S., Composite Lag Distributions in the Financial Sector, Lexington, 1975.
 - [47] Hillier, Frederick S. and Leiberman, Gerald J. Introduction to Operations Research, Holden Day, 1986.
 - [48] Hunt, Lacy J., Dynamics of Forecasting Financial Cycles, Jai Press, 1976.

- [49] Jennings, Robert H., "Equilibrium Model of Asset Trading with Sequential Information Arrival", Journal of Finance, Mar. 1981.
- [50] Katz, Eliakim, "Interest Rate Policies, Expectations and Exchange Rate Stability", The Economic Journal, June 1985.
- [51] Klein, L. R., Theory of Economic Predictions, Markham Publishing Co., 1971.
- [52] Kmenta and Ramsay, Large Scale Macroeconomic Models, North Holland, 1981.
- [53] Laidler, David E. W., The Demand for Money, Harper and Row, 1985.
- [54] Laidler, David E. W. and Parkin M., "Inflation", The Economic Journal, Dec. 1975.
- [55] Lewis, C. D., Industrial Forecasting Techniques, The Machinery Publishing Co. Ltd., 1970.
- [56] Leontief, Wassily H., The Future of the World Economy, Oxford University Press, 1977.
- [57] Llewellyn, G. E. J.; Potter, Stephen and Samuelson, Lee, Economic Forecasting and Policy, Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1985.
- [58] Mansfield, Edwin, Microeconomics: Theory and Applications, Third Edition, Norton, 1979.
- [59] McKenna, Joseph P., Aggregate Economic Analysis, Fifth Edition, Dryden Press, 1977.
- [60] Melvin, Michael, "The Vanishing Liquidity Effect of Money on Interest: Analysis and Implications for Policy", Economic Inquiry, Apr. 1983.

N

[61] Mincer, Jacob, Analysis of Forecasting Behaviour and Performance, Columbia University Press, 1967.

Ø

93

- [62] Minitab Reference Manual
- [63] Moore, Geoffrey H. and Shiskin, Julius, Indicators of Business Expansions and Contractions, National Bureau of Economic Research, 1967.
- [64] Morrell, James, Management Decisions and the Role of Forecasting, Pelican, 1972
- [65] Moss, Scott J., Markets and Macroeconomics, Robertson, 1984.
- [66] Nagatani, Keizo, Macroeconomic Dynamics
- [67] Pesarin, M. H. and Slater L. J., Dynamic Regression: Theory and Algorithms, Wiley, 1980.
- [68] Peston, Maurice Harry, Theory of Macroeconomic Policy, Second Edition, P. Alien, 1982.
- [69] Perryman, M. Raỳ, Measurement of Monetary Policy, Kluhen Nijhoff, 1973.
- [70] Ramsey, James B., Economic Forecasting- Methods or Markets?, Institute of Economic Affairs, 1977.
- [71] Rosen, L. S., Accounting : A Decision Approach, Prentice Hall, 1986.
- [72] Salyzyn, Vladimir, The Economic Analysis of Taxes, Detselig Enterprises Inc., 1985.
- [73] Scarfe, Brian L., Cycles, Growth and Inflation, McGraw Hill, 1977.
- [74] Schultze, David A., General Equilibrium Study of Monetary Mechanisms, University of Florida Press, 1974.

[75] Scitovsky, Tibor, "A Note on Profit Maximization, and Its Implications", Review of Economic Studies, Winter 1943.

94

[76] Scott, Robert Haney, Problems in National Income Analysis and Forecasting, Scott, Foresman, Glenview, 1972.

[77] Shapiro, Edward, Macroeconomic Analysis, Fourth Edition,

- [78] Sheffrin, Standard Expectations, Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [79] Smith G., Editor, Engineering Economy Abstracts, Iowa State University June 1970-
- [80] Slovin, Myron B., Money and Economic Activity: An Analytical Approach, Laxington, 1977.
- [81] Spivey and Wrobleski, Econometric Model Performance In Forecasting and Policy Assessment, American Entrepreneurial Institute for Policy Research,
- [82] Sprague, J. C. and Whittaker, J. D., Economic Analysis for Engineers and Managers, The Canadian Context, Prentice Hall, 1986.
- [83] Stevens, Benjamin H., A New Approach to Prediction of Regional Industrial Growth, Regional Science Research Institute, 1976.
- [84] Stovel, G., National Accounts Analysis, McMillan Press Ltd., 1986.
- [85] Strigel, Wernertt, Business Cycle Surveys, Gower Publishing Co., 1980.
- [86] Tarshis, Larie, World Economy in Crisis, James Larimer and

Co., 1984.

[87] Thomas, Robert Paul, Macroeconomic Applications, Wadsworth Publishing Co., 1981.

95

- [88] U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Business Conditions Digest, Jan. 1980- July 1988.
- [89] Wheelwright, Steven C., Forecasting Methods For Management, Fourth Edition, 1985.
- [90] Whitmore, Harland William, Aggregate Economic Choice, Berlin/ Springer Herlag, 1986

APPENDIX A

Recommended Sources of Data

Business Conditions Digest

Superintendent of Documents

U. S. Government Printing Office

Washington, D. C., 20402

Federal Reserve Bulletin and Historical Chart Book

Board Of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

Publications Services

Mail Stop 138

Washington D. C., 20551.

Economic Review

Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas

Public Affairs Department

Station K,

Dallas Tx., 75222.

APPENDIX B

Lotus 1-2-3 Format Used

.

Two Lotus formats were used in tabulating the data required for the graphical analysis. These were for handling quarterly and monthly data. The first three rows were reserved for headings to describe the data. Where annual rates are shown, the entry represents four times the actual quarterly figure. The first row of each column is shown.

4

1. Quarterly Data Format

*

Column	Description
A4	Year and Quarter in decimal form.
B4	GNE Deflator.
C4	Personal Income, annual rate
D4	Disposable Income, annual rate
E4	Personal Consumption, annual rate
F4	Consumer Instalment Credit Outstanding.
G4	Home Mortgage Debt as a percentage of Personal Income.
H4	"Other" Debt as a percentage of Personal Income.
14	Net Exports, annual rate.
J4	Inventory to Sales Ratio.
К5	Change in Income less Change in Expenditure.
	(C5*(1-G5/300)-E5)*100/B5-(C4*(1-G4/300)-E4)*100/B4
L9	Four Period Moving Average of K5. @AVG(K5K9)
M 5	Gross National Revenue. (E5+(4*C5*G5/300)+I5)*100/B5

N4 The Ratio of Consumer Instalment Credit to Personal Income (F4/C4)

O4The Ratio of Total Debt to Personal Income. N4+G4+H4P23Twenty Period Moving Average of Inventory/Sales.@AVG(J4..J23)

1

ŕ

2. Monthly Format

· .

۰.

Column	Description
A 4	Year And Month in decimal form.
B 4	Personal Income, annual rate.
C4	Consumer Instalment Credit Outstanding.
D4	Ratio of Consumer Instalment Credit to Personal Income.
	(B 4/C4)